

Chicago Chapter Bylaws

Effective January 1, 2009

(If adopted, these proposed Bylaws would replace the current Bylaws in their entirety.)

Table of Contents

Article I: Name, Charter and Jurisdiction	1
Part A: Name	1
Part B: Charter.....	1
Part C: Jurisdiction.....	1
Article II: Purposes	2
Article III: Chapter Membership	3
Part A: Classifications of Membership.....	3
Part B: Requirement of Chapter Membership	3
Part C: Chapter Membership Rules.....	3
Part D: Transfer of Chapter Membership	3
Part E: Primary Chapter	3
Part F: Membership in Multiple Chapters	3
Article IV: Membership Classification & Privileges	4
Part A: Designated Members	4
Part B: Associates Members	4
Part C: Affiliate Members	4
Article V: Fiscal Year, Chapter Dues and Fees	7
Part A: Fiscal Year.....	7
Part B: Annual Chapter Dues	7
Part C: Dues of New Members.....	7
Part D: Payment Date.....	7
Part E: Late Fee and Nonpayment.....	8
Part F: Waiver of Dues or Fees	8
Part G: Limitation on Dues and Fees	8
Part H: Special Assessments	8
Part I: Special Assessment Payment Date.....	8
Part J: Waiver of Special Assessment.....	9
Article VIII: Chapter Board of Directors	10
Part A: General Authority.....	10
Part B: Composition.....	10
Part C: Term	10
Part D: Eligibility.....	10
Part E: Removal.....	9
Part F: Vacancies	8

Part G: Notice of Regular Meetings.....	9
Part H: Meetings.....	9
Part I: Special Board of Directors Meetings	9
Part J: Meetings in Person or by Interactive Technology.....	10
Part K: Action Without a Meeting.....	10
Part L: Quorum	10
Article IX: Chapter Officers	11
Part A: General Provision	11
Part B: Eligibility.....	11
Part C: Removal	11
Part D: Vacancies	11
Part E: Duties of the President	12
Part F: Duties of the President Elect	12
Part G: Duties of the Vice President.....	12
Part H: Duties of the Treasurer.....	15
Part I: Duties of the Secretary	15
Article X: Executive Director of the Chapter	17
Article XI: Nominations and Elections	16
Part A: Composition of Chapter Nominating Committee.....	16
Part B: Duties of Nominating Committee.....	16
Part C: Report of Nominating Committee.....	17
Part D: Additional Nominations.....	17
Part E: Election	17
Part F: Notification of Results	20
Part G: Chapter Representatives to the Regional Committee	20
Part H: Use of Alternate Regional Committee Representatives.....	20
Article XII: Chapter Committees	21
Part A: Service Division	21
Part B: Finance Committee	21
Part C: Education Committee(s).....	21
Part D: Government Relations Committee	21
Part E: Membership Admissions, Development and Retention Committee	20
Part F: Associate Member Guidance Committee.....	21
Part G: Special Committees and Subcommittees	23
Article XIII: Chapter Meetings and Quorums	25
Part A: Regular Membership Meetings	25
Part B: Special Membership Meetings	25
Part C: Quorum.....	25
Part D: Joint Meetings	26

Part E: Robert’s Rules of Order.....	26
Article XIV: Chapter Publications	27
Part A: Chapter Directory.....	27
Part B: Chapter Website.....	27
Article XV: Restrictions Upon the Powers of Chapters	28
Part A: General Limitation	28
Part B: Adoption Amendment of Chapter Bylaws.....	28
Part C: Restriction Upon Committing the Appraisal Institute.....	28
Part D: Acting in the Name of the Appraisal Institute	29
Part E: Acting in the Name of the Chapter	29
Part F: Use of Chapter Funds.....	29
Part G: Chapter Education Trust Funds.....	29

Name, Charter and Jurisdiction

Part A: Name

The name of this organization is the Chicago Chapter of the Appraisal Institute (hereinafter referred to as “chapter”).

Part B: Charter

This chapter was created and exists solely by reason of the charter granted to it by the Appraisal Institute.

Part C: Jurisdiction

The territorial jurisdiction assigned to this chapter by the Board of Directors of the Appraisal Institute are the Illinois counties of Adams, Alexander, Bond, Brown, Calhoun, Cass, Champaign, Christian, Clark, Clay, Clinton, Coles, Cook, Crawford, Cumberland, DeWitt, Douglas, DuPage, Edgar, Effingham, Fayette, Ford, Franklin, Fulton, Greene, Grundy, Hancock, Iroquois, Jackson, Jasper, Jefferson, Jersey, Johnson, Kane, Kankakee, Kendall, Knox, Lake, Lawrence, Livingston, Logan, Macon, Macoupin, Madison, Marion, Marshall, Mason, Massac, McDonough, McHenry, McLean, Menard, Monroe, Montgomery, Morgan, Moultrie, Peoria, Perry, Piatt, Pike, Pulaski, Randolph, Richland, Sangamon, Schuyler, Scott, Shelby, St. Clair, Stark, Tazewell, Union, Vermilion, Washington, Will, Williamson, Woodford and the Indiana county of Lake.

Purposes

The purposes for which this chapter is formed are and shall be the purposes of the Appraisal Institute as set forth in the national Bylaws, and in addition to afford local members of the Appraisal Institute a suitable means for exchanging information and experience.

No part of the net income of the chapter shall inure to the benefit of any individual, or any member, or any group of members of the Appraisal Institute. The chapter is not organized for profit or to engage in any activity ordinarily carried on for profit.

Chapter Membership

Part A: Classifications of Membership

The chapter shall have Designated, Associate and Affiliate Members as defined in the national Bylaws of the Appraisal Institute.

Any requirement pertaining to a “designated” member set forth here in after pertains to any designation conferred or maintained by the Appraisal Institute.

Part B: Requirement of Chapter Membership

All members of the Appraisal Institute who are located within the Chicago Chapter jurisdiction shall be eligible for membership in the Chicago Chapter. Membership in the chapter shall automatically terminate if an individual ceases to be a member of the Appraisal Institute.

Part C: Chapter Membership Rules

Rules concerning which chapter a member may belong to are found in Regulation No. 8 of the Appraisal Institute.

Part D: Transfer of Chapter Membership

The Chapter may not unilaterally waive chapter membership for any member within its jurisdiction; however, a member may be authorized to transfer his or her chapter membership to a chapter whose territory is contiguous to the chapter having jurisdiction upon mutual written agreement between both chapters and the member involved, and notice delivered in writing to the national headquarters.

Part E: Primary Chapter

A member may belong to more than one chapter; however, members must choose a primary chapter. Chapter size shall be determined as of January 1 of each year. For purposes of determining chapter size for representation to the regional committee, only those designated members who have chosen the chapter as their primary chapter shall be counted. A member shall vote only in his or her primary chapter on regional and national issues.

Part F: Membership in Multiple Chapters

At the option of the Chapter Board of Directors, chapter membership may be made available to a member who has not chosen the Chicago Chapter as his or her primary chapter. Chapter dues must be paid to the primary chapter as well as to any other chapter a member belongs to.

Membership Classification and Privileges

Part A: Designated Members

Section 1: Designated Membership Categories and Status

Chapters shall have Practicing and Non-Practicing Designated Members as defined in the national Bylaws of the Appraisal Institute. Practicing Designated Members may also hold the status of Practicing Past President Member, Practicing Life Member, or Practicing Semi-Retired Member. Non-Practicing Designated Members may also hold the status of Temporarily Non-Practicing Member, Non-Practicing Retired Member, Non-Practicing Past President Member, or Non-Practicing Life Member.

Section 2: Voting Rights

Designated Members who are not Inactive shall have the right to vote at the chapter level.

Section 3: Office Holding

Designated Members who are not Inactive may hold any chapter office and may serve on any chapter committee or other chapter body provided that such Designated Members: (a) are members of the Chapter in good standing; (b) are continuing education completed; and (c) have not been subject to a publishable disciplinary action by the Appraisal Institute within the five (5) years prior to election or appointment.

Part B: Associate Members

Section 1. Associate Membership Category and Statuses

Chapters shall have Practicing and Non-Practicing Associate Members as defined in the national Bylaws of the Appraisal Institute. Practicing Associate Members may also hold the status of Practicing Life Member or Practicing Semi-Retired Member. Non-Practicing Associate Members may also hold the status of Temporarily Non-Practicing Member, Non-Practicing Retired Member, or Non-Practicing Life Member.

Section 2. Voting Rights

Associate Members in good standing, except Non-Practicing Associate Members who do not hold the status of Temporarily Non-Practicing Member, Non-Practicing Retired Member, or Non-Practicing Life Member, shall have the right to vote at the Chapter level, except in matters concerning education where examination security is impacted and admissions.

Section 3. Office Holding

Associate Members, except Temporarily Non-Practicing Members, may hold Chapter office other than President, may serve on the Chapter Board of Directors, and may serve on Chapter committees or other Chapter bodies except in the areas of education where examination security is impacted and admissions, provided that such Associate Members: (a) are members of the Chapter in good standing; (b) have completed the continuing education requirements for Associate Members; and (c) have not been subject to a publishable disciplinary action by the Appraisal Institute within the five (5) years prior to election or appointment.

Part C: Affiliate Members

Section 1. Affiliate Members Category

Chapters shall have Affiliate Members as defined in the national Bylaws of the Appraisal Institute.

Section 2. Voting Rights

Affiliate Members shall not have the right to vote at the Chapter level.

Section 3. Office Holding

Affiliate Members are not eligible to hold Chapter offices. Affiliate Members may serve on Chapter committees, panels, project teams and other Chapter bodies, except for education where examination security is impacted and admissions, provided that such Affiliate Members: (a) are members of the Chapter in good standing; (b) have completed any continuing education requirements for Affiliate Members; and (c) have not been subject to a publishable disciplinary action by the Appraisal Institute within the five (5) years prior to appointment.

Fiscal Year, Chapter Dues and Fees

Part A: Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the chapter shall be the calendar year.

Part B: Annual Chapter Dues

Except as otherwise provided, all members of a chapter shall pay annual chapter dues. **The amount of Chapter dues shall be set by the Chapter Board of Directors if the national Board of Directors has not established such amount.** The amount set for chapter dues may not exceed the annual national dues set by the Board of Directors of the Appraisal Institute for the corresponding classification of membership. **Invoices for national and chapter dues shall be issued by the Appraisal Institute with the chapter dues being remitted to the local chapter. Except where the national Bylaws, Regulations, policies, resolutions, and directives of the Appraisal Institute provide otherwise, dues collected during one month shall be remitted to the Chapter no later than the fifteenth of the subsequent month.** Other chapter expenses, such as meal costs and assessments, shall be the responsibility of the chapter for collection and shall not be considered as dues.

As defined in the national Bylaws of the Appraisal Institute, Honorary Members, Practicing and Non-Practicing Past President Members, Temporarily Non-Practicing Members, and Non-Practicing Retired Members are not required to pay Chapter dues. However, Temporarily Non-Practicing Members and Non-Practicing Retired Members shall pay an annual Chapter administrative fee in an amount set by the Chapter Board of Directors. The amount set for a Chapter administrative fee may not exceed the annual national administrative fee set by the national Board of Directors. Temporarily Non-Practicing Members and Non-Practicing Retired Members who fail to pay the administrative fee shall cease to receive any services from the Chapter.

Part C: Dues of New Members

The chapter dues of a new member for the year in which he or she is admitted to membership shall be prorated on a monthly basis and shall be payable within ten (10) days of notice delivered in writing. The chapter dues of members joining after November 1 shall be credited to the following fiscal year.

Part D: Payment Date

Annual Chapter membership dues and Chapter administrative fees for **Temporarily Non-Practicing Members and Non-Practicing Retired Members shall be payable on January 1 of each year.**

Part E: Late Fee and Nonpayment

A late fee of fifteen percent (15%) shall be charged to all Members who have not paid their dues or administrative fees by April 1 of each year.

The rules governing suspension or termination of a Member for nonpayment of dues or administrative fees are found in the national Bylaws of the Appraisal Institute.

Part F: Waiver of Dues or Fees

The Chapter Board of Directors may suspend or waive, in whole or in part, the payment of chapter member dues or chapter administrative fees by any member of the chapter. The Chapter Secretary must notify the Chair of the national Finance Committee in writing of the waiver of chapter dues or administrative fees and the reason for such waiver.

Part G: Limitation on Dues and Fees

The chapter may not charge member dues or member administrative fees other than as authorized above without the approval of the national Board of Directors. The chapter may, however, charge for meal costs and/or levy special assessments.

Part H: Special Assessments

The chapter may levy a special assessment upon the members to create or maintain a specific chapter reserve fund or to pay the cost of a specific chapter special activity or project. A special assessment must be authorized by the affirmative vote of not less than seventy-five percent (75%) of the members of the chapter present and voting at a membership meeting. Notice of the membership meeting at which the vote on a special assessment is to be taken shall specify the time, date and purpose of such meeting. The amount of any special assessment, as applied to each individual member of the chapter, shall not exceed the amount of the individual's current annual national dues to the Appraisal Institute.

Part I: Special Assessment Payment Date

The due date (or dates) for payment of a special assessment of the chapter shall be determined by the chapter membership at the time the special assessment is authorized.

Part J: Waiver of Special Assessment

The Chapter Board of Directors may suspend or waive, in whole or in part, the payment of a chapter special assessment by any member of the chapter. The Chapter Secretary must deliver notice in writing to the Chair of the national Finance Committee of the waiver of chapter special assessment dues and the reason for such waiver.

Chapter Board of Directors

Part A: General Authority

The affairs and activities of the Chapter shall be administered by a Board of Directors. The Chapter Board of Directors shall exercise all powers specifically delegated to the Chapters by [Regulation No. 8](#), the national Bylaws, and the policies, resolutions, and directives of the Appraisal Institute, subject to the restrictions upon such powers set forth in Regulation No. 8 and established by the national Board of Directors.

Part B: Composition

The Chapter Board of Directors shall consist of elected and ex-officio voting and nonvoting members.

The elected officers of the Chapter, the Immediate Past President of the Chapter, and the Chair of the Branch Chapter(s) (if any) shall be ex officio voting members of the Chapter Board of Directors. In addition, unless such member is serving on the Chapter Board of Directors by election, each member of the national Board of Directors who is also a chapter member shall be an ex officio nonvoting member of the Chapter Board of Directors having the right to introduce and second motions and resolutions.

There shall be nine (9) elected directors, (not including the Chapter Officers), of the Chapter Board of Directors plus an Executive Director, (at the discretion of the Board).

Part C: Term

Approximately one-third of the elected members of the Chapter Board of Directors shall be elected each year to serve a three (3) year term.

Part D: Eligibility

A member of the Chapter is eligible to serve on the Chapter Board of Directors if he or she meets the requirements set forth in this Part and in [Article IV](#). No elected director shall serve consecutive three (3) year terms unless recommended by the Regional Committee with jurisdiction over the Chapter and approved by the national Board of Directors.

Part E: Removal

An elected member of the Chapter Board of Directors who fails to fulfill the duties of his or her position or who fails to attend three (3) consecutive regularly scheduled Board meetings may be removed by a sixty percent (60%) vote of the voting members of the Chapter Board of Directors. In the event of removal under this Part, a vacancy for the position shall be declared, and the vacancy shall be filled as described in these Bylaws.

An elected member of the Chapter Board of Directors shall be automatically removed if he or she: (1) ceases to be a member of the Chapter in good standing; (2) ceases to hold the status “continuing education completed” if a Designated Member or fails to meet any continuing education requirements for Associate or Affiliate Members if such a member; or (3) receives a publishable disciplinary action by the Appraisal Institute.

In the event of removal under this Part, a vacancy for the position shall be declared, and the vacancy shall be filled as described in these Bylaws.

Part F: Vacancies

If a vacancy occurs among the elected members of the Chapter Board of Directors, the Board, by majority vote, shall fill the vacancy. The member elected in this manner shall serve until the remainder of the unexpired term is filled by election as set forth below.

To fill the remainder of the unexpired term, the chapter shall first follow the nominating process set forth in Article VIII. After the nominating process is completed, the vacancy shall be filled by election:

- At the next regular chapter membership meeting;
- At a special chapter membership meeting held before the next regular chapter membership meeting;
- Via secure mail ballot if a majority of the Board of Directors approves such voting procedure; or
- Via secure electronic means if a majority of the Board of Directors approves such voting procedure.

Part G: Notice of Regular Meetings

The Chapter Secretary shall deliver in writing a notice of each regular Chapter Board of Directors meeting to each Director no fewer than fourteen (14) days prior to each meeting.

Part H: Meetings

The Chapter Board of Directors shall hold at least four (4) regular meetings a year. Two (2) of these meetings shall be scheduled to permit timely discussion of matters to be considered by the national Board of Directors at its meetings.

Part I: Special Board of Directors Meetings

A special Chapter Board of Directors meeting shall be called by the Chapter Secretary upon receipt of a request that is delivered in writing and that is signed by the chapter President or at least two (2) of the voting members of the Chapter Board of Directors. Notice of a special Chapter Board of Directors meeting may be either in accordance with the notice provision for regular Chapter Board of Directors meetings or, if there is not sufficient time to permit such notice, by the chapter Secretary attempting to contact each Director in person or by telephone, facsimile, traceable carrier, or electronic transmission at least twenty-four hours in advance of the special meeting. If the later alternative for

notice is used, at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the total number of Directors must agree to attend the special meeting. Notice of a special Chapter Board of Directors meeting shall specify the date, time, place and purpose of the special meeting.

Part J: Meetings in Person or by Interactive Technology

The Chapter Board of Directors may hold its meetings either in person or by interactive technology, so long as all Directors participating in the meeting can communicate with one another. Interactive technology includes but is not limited to conference telephone, electronic transmission, Internet usage, or remote communication. Action taken at a meeting held via interactive technology shall be as effective as if the Directors had met in person.

Part K: Action Without a Meeting

Except as otherwise expressly provided in these Bylaws, any action required or permitted to be taken by the Chapter Board of Directors may be taken without a meeting if all members of the Chapter Board of Directors consent in writing to that action. A member of the Board of Directors may provide such written consent in electronic form.

An action by written consent shall have the same force and effect as any other validly approved action of the Chapter Board of Directors. The written consent(s) shall be filed with the minutes of the meetings of the Chapter Board of Directors.

Part L: Quorum

A quorum for any meeting of the Chapter Board of Directors shall consist of fifty percent (50%) of the voting members. A meeting at which a quorum is initially present may continue to transact business, notwithstanding the withdrawal of Directors, if any action taken is approved by at least a majority of the required quorum for that meeting. A member of the Chapter Board of Directors may neither attend a meeting by proxy nor vote by proxy.

Chapter Officers

Part A: General Provision

The officers of the chapter shall include a President, a President Elect, a Vice President, a Secretary, and a Treasurer. Each chapter officer shall be elected annually to a one (1) year term by a majority vote of the chapter membership in the manner required by these Bylaws.

Part B: Eligibility

A member of the Chapter is eligible to serve as a Chapter officer if he or she meets the requirements set forth in this Part and in [Article IV](#). The Chapter President shall be a Designated Member.

Part C Removal

A Chapter Officer who fails to fulfill the duties of his or her position or who fails to attend three (3) consecutive regularly, scheduled Board meetings may be removed from office by a sixty percent (60%) vote of the voting members of the Chapter Board of Directors. Further, the national Board of Directors may remove a Chapter officer for cause by a sixty percent (60%) vote.

A Chapter Officer shall be automatically removed if he or she: (1) ceases to be a member of the chapter in good standing; (2) ceases to hold the status "continuing education completed" if a Designated Member or fails to meet any continuing education requirements for Associate or Affiliate Members if such a member; or (3) receives a publishable disciplinary action by the Appraisal Institute.

In the event of removal under this Part, a vacancy for the position shall be declared, and the vacancy shall be filled as described in these Bylaws.

Part D Vacancies

In the event that a vacancy occurs in any chapter office (other than the office of President), the chapter Board of Directors, by majority vote, shall fill the vacancy. The member elected in this manner shall serve until the remainder of the unexpired term is filled by election as set forth below.

To fill the remainder of the unexpired term, the chapter shall first follow the nominating process set forth in [Article VIII](#). After the nominating process is completed, the chapter membership shall fill the vacancy for the remainder of the unexpired term by an election:

- At the next regular chapter membership meeting;
- At a special chapter membership meeting held before the next regular chapter membership meeting;
- Via secure mail ballot if a majority of the Board of Directors approves such voting procedure;
- or

- Via secure electronic means if a majority of the Board of Directors approves such voting procedure.

Part E: Duties of the President

The Chapter President shall be the chief executive officer of the chapter and shall: (1) preside at all regular and special membership meetings; (2) preside at all regular and special meetings of the Chapter Board of Directors; (3) carry out the policies and programs adopted by the Chapter Board of Directors; (4) serve as an ex officio non-voting member of all chapter committees except the Nominating Committee; (5) attend all Regional Committee meetings; (6) have an e-mail address and web access; and (7) be familiar with the Bylaws, Regulations, policies, resolutions, and directives of the Appraisal Institute and the Chapter Bylaws.

The President shall also make chapter committee appointments in accordance with these Bylaws. The President may not serve more than two (2) consecutive complete terms as President, **unless recommended by the Regional Committee with jurisdiction over the chapter** and approved by the National Board of Directors or its designee.

The incoming Chapter President must attend the Chapter President's orientation at the National meetings in the year prior to his or her Presidency, or the Chapter must send another of its Officers in place of such incoming President.

Part F: Duties of the President Elect

President Elect of the Chapter shall perform the duties of the President in the event of the President's absence or disability. The President Elect shall also perform such duties as may be assigned to him or to her by the Chapter Board of Directors or the President. The President Elect shall succeed to the office of the President should that office become vacant, except that if the President-Elect is not a designated member at the time he or she is to fill the vacancy, a special election to fill the presidential vacancy shall be held.

Part G: Duties of the Vice President

The Vice President of the chapter shall perform the duties of the President in the event of the President's & the President Elect's absence or disability. The Vice President shall also perform such other duties as may be assigned to him or to her by the Chapter Board of Directors or the President. The Vice President shall succeed to the office of President Elect should that office become vacant.

Part I: Duties of the Secretary

The Chapter Secretary shall keep an accurate record of the proceedings at all regular and special membership meetings of the chapter. Chapter records relating to membership meetings shall be open for inspection upon written request by any chapter member who wishes to inspect such records; however, chapter records relating to litigation and privileged information shall not be open for inspection.

The Chapter Secretary shall keep an accurate record of the proceedings at all regular and special Chapter Board of Directors meetings. Chapter records relating to Chapter Board of Directors

meetings shall, upon written request, be open for inspection by any chapter member who wishes to inspect such records; however, chapter records relating to litigation, privileged information and chapter recommendation with respect to an application for membership shall not be open for inspection.

The Chapter Secretary shall deliver in writing a copy of the minutes from each regular or special membership meeting and each regular or special meeting of the Chapter Board of Directors to each chapter Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Appraisal Institute within thirty (30) days after such meeting.

The Chapter Secretary shall prepare and maintain the Chapter Roster, effective January 1 of each calendar year. The Chapter Secretary shall also maintain the Chapter Roster.

The Chapter Secretary shall be responsible for the chapter's charter, seal, minute book and non-financial records. At the expiration of his or her term of office, the Chapter Secretary shall turn over to his or her successor, the chapter's charter, seal, minute book and non-financial records in his or her custody or control.

The Chapter Secretary shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Chapter Board of Directors or the Chapter President.

Part H: Duties of the Treasurer

The Chapter Treasurer shall receive all monies collected by the chapter, or by any officer or other party on behalf of the chapter, and shall deposit such monies in a bank or other financial institution specified by the Chapter Board of Directors. The Chapter Treasurer, or his/her assigns, shall make disbursements for expenses up to \$7,500; in no event will the Chapter Treasurer's assigns be authorized to make disbursements unless the Chapter Treasurer has authorized the specific disbursement. Unless previously approved under the Chapter's budget, checks for disbursements exceeding this amount must be signed by two officers and must be authorized by a majority vote of the Chapter Board of Directors at a regular or special meeting,. The Chapter shall follow the investment policy adopted by the Appraisal Institute.

The Chapter Treasurer shall deliver in writing an annual financial accounting (balance sheet and income statement) of all chapter receipts and expenses and all fund reserves and balances to the Chief Executive Officer of the Appraisal Institute. This financial accounting shall be at the chapter's expense. If the chapter's annual expenses exceed \$200,000, then a review or audit by an independent accounting firm, according to generally accepted auditing standards, must be performed and reported to the Chair of the national Finance Committee of the Appraisal Institute. If the chapter's receipts and/or funds are reviewed by an independent accounting firm rather than audited, the national Board of Directors may require that an audit be performed if it believes that such an audit would be in the best interest of the Appraisal Institute. The annual financial accounting shall, upon written request, be open for inspection by any chapter member, who wishes to inspect such accounting.

At the expiration of his or her term of office, the Chapter Treasurer shall turn over to his or her successor all bank accounts, funds, assets, books of account and other financial records of the chapter in his or her custody or control. These records may be audited by a special auditing committee appointed by the Chapter President, if such audit is requested by a majority of the Chapter Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VIII

Executive Director of the Chapter

The Executive Director will be a hired staff position selected by the Chapter Board of Directors. The Executive Director shall report to the Board of Directors. The Executive Director shall have the general powers and duties of management usually vested in the position of chapter executive directors of an association and such other powers and duties as may be prescribed by these Bylaws and the Chapter Board of Directors from time to time.

The Executive Director will be a non-voting, ex officio member of the Chapter Board of Directors, but may introduce topics for discussion and consideration.

Nominations and Elections

Part A: Composition of Chapter Nominating Committee

The chapter shall annually create a Nominating Committee consisting of an ex officio member, two (2) appointed members and two (2) members elected by the chapter membership.

The ex officio member of the Nominating Committee shall be the immediate past President of the chapter. He or she shall serve as Chair of the Nominating Committee and shall be a full voting member of that committee. If the immediate past President of the Chapter is unwilling or unable to serve in this capacity, the Chapter Board of Directors shall elect an individual to act as Chair of the Nominating Committee.

The Chapter President shall appoint one (1) member of the Nominating Committee at, or prior to, the first regular meeting of the Chapter Board of Directors each year. The Chapter Board of Directors shall appoint one (1) member of the Nominating Committee at its first regular meeting each year. Appointed members of the Nominating Committee shall serve a one (1) year term and shall not be eligible to serve consecutive terms on the Nominating Committee.

The two (2) elected members of the Nominating Committee shall be elected by the chapter membership at the first regular membership meeting in each year. All nominations for the elected members shall be made from the floor. Elected members of the Nominating Committee shall serve a one (1) year term and shall not be eligible to serve consecutive terms on the Nominating Committee. The current President of the chapter shall not serve on the Nominating Committee.

Part B: Duties of Nominating Committee

Each year the Nominating Committee shall prepare a slate consisting of at least one (1) nominee for each chapter office, each vacancy on the Chapter Board of Directors and each vacant Regional Committee member position to be filled for the succeeding year.

In addition, the Nominating Committee may recommend up to ten (10) alternate Regional Committee members who would be available to fulfill the duties of a Regional Committee member elected by the chapter, or the Chapter President, who are unable to attend a Regional Committee meeting.

Part C: Report of Nominating Committee

Each year the Nominating Committee shall make its selections, prepare an appropriate report and deliver this report in writing to the Chapter Secretary no fewer than thirty-five (35) days prior to the date on which elections are scheduled to be held. The Chapter Secretary shall deliver in writing a copy of the Nominating Committee report to each chapter member no fewer than twenty-five (25) days prior to the date on which elections are scheduled to be held.

Part D: Additional Nominations

Additional nominations may be made by a timely filing of a written petition signed by at least five percent (5%) of the total chapter membership. Such petition may be in electronic form. To be effective, each nominating petition must be delivered in writing to the Chapter Secretary no fewer than fifteen (15) days prior to the regular membership meeting at which the election is to be held. The Chapter Secretary shall deliver in writing a copy of any petition filed to each chapter member no fewer than ten (10) days prior to the date on which elections are scheduled to be held.

Part E: Election

Chapter elections shall be held prior to June 30. At the regular membership meeting at which the election is to be held, the chapter membership shall receive the Nominating Committee report and any petitions for additional nominations. No additional nominations may be made from the floor.

The membership shall then proceed to elect the necessary chapter officers, Directors, Regional Committee members, and at the option of the chapter, alternative Regional Committee members, for the succeeding year.

Alternatively, by at least a majority vote of the Chapter Board of Directors, chapter elections may be conducted by mail ballot or by electronic means. If a mail ballot or electronic means are utilized, the Chapter must adopt a procedure that insures voting security. For voting by mail ballot, such security shall include at a minimum, the mailing by the Chapter Secretary of a numbered ballot to each member with a numbered return envelope. At least twenty (20) days shall be allowed for the return of ballots. For voting by electronic means, the procedure must insure that each ballot is cast by a member having the right to vote and that such member has voted no more than once. Examples of such secure electronic voting procedures include use of electronic signatures and passwords. At least ten (10) days shall be allowed for the return of electronic ballots and access to electronic ballots shall be limited to the chapter Secretary and/or no more than two individuals designated by the chapter Board of Directors. Tabulation of mail or electronic ballots shall be conducted by the Chapter Secretary and/or no more than two individuals designated by the Board of Directors. The chapter Secretary shall be responsible for the notification of results as provided for in the following section.

Part F: Notification of Results

Immediately upon completion of the annual election, the Chapter Secretary shall provide notice delivered in writing to the chapter membership, the Regional Chair and the Chief Executive Officer of the Appraisal Institute as to the names and addresses of the individuals elected for the ensuing year.

Part G: Chapter Representatives to the Regional Committee

Chapter representatives to the Regional Committee will be elected on the basis of one (1) for each fifty (50) designated members per Chapter. If a Chapter has one or more elected representatives to the Regional Committee, one such representative should be a Chapter Vice President. Chapter representatives shall serve no more than two (2) complete two (2) year terms. Chapters with more than one (1) representative shall elect approximately half of their representatives each year in order to achieve staggered terms.

Part H: Use of Alternate Regional Committee Representatives

The Chapter must send representative(s) to Regional Committee meetings. If a chapter elected Regional Committee member, or the Chapter President, is unable to attend a Regional Committee meeting the Chapter President shall then notify the first alternate and request the alternate attend the Regional Committee meeting. If the first alternate is unable to attend, the Chapter President shall proceed down the list of elected alternates until one who is able to attend the Regional Committee meeting is found. The Chapter President shall provide notice delivered in writing to the Regional Chair of the use of alternate Regional Committee members.

Chapter Committees

Part A: General

Section 1. Number and Types of Committees

Each Chapter shall have a Nominating Committee; Finance Committee; General Appraiser Education Committee; and Residential Appraiser Education Committee. At the Chapter's discretion, the General Appraiser and Residential Education Committees may be combined into one Chapter Education Committee. Each Chapter may have the following additional committees: Government Relations Committee; Membership Admissions, Development, and Retention Committee; Associate Member Guidance Committee; External Relations Committee; Bylaws Committee; and Public Relations Committee.

All members of these standing Chapter committees shall be appointed and have tenure in accordance with [Regulation No. 8](#).

Section 2. Eligibility of Members to Serve

A member of the Chapter shall be eligible to serve on a Chapter Committee if he or she meets the requirements set forth in [Article IV](#).

Section 3. Removal

A Chapter Committee member who fails to fulfill his or her duties on a Chapter Committee may be removed by a sixty percent (60%) vote of the voting members of the Chapter Board of Directors. Further, the national Board of Directors may remove a Chapter Committee member for cause by a sixty percent (60%) vote.

A Chapter Committee member shall be automatically removed if he or she: (1) ceases to be a member of the chapter in good standing; (2) ceases to hold the status "continuing education completed" if a Designated Member or fails to meet any continuing education requirements for Associate or Affiliate Members if such a member; or (3) receives a publishable disciplinary action by the Appraisal Institute.

In the event of removal under this Section, a vacancy shall be declared and the vacancy shall be filled as described in [Regulation No. 8](#).

Section 4. Vacancies

In the event that a vacancy occurs on a Chapter Committee, the Chapter President shall appoint a replacement who shall serve the remainder of the term, subject to approval by the Chapter Board of Directors at its next regular or special meeting.

Part B: Finance Committee

The chapter Finance Committee shall consist of the Treasurer of the chapter and a minimum of (3) three other members who shall be appointed to serve staggered terms of three (3) years each.

The Chapter Treasurer shall be the Chair of the Chapter Finance Committee. The other members shall be appointed by the Chapter President with the approval of the Chapter Board of Directors and shall not be eligible to serve consecutive terms.

The chapter Finance Committee shall prepare a proposed budget for the succeeding operating year and shall deliver in writing its recommendations concerning proposed changes in the chapter budget for the current year to the Chapter Board of Directors for approval. The Chapter Treasurer shall deliver in writing a copy of the approved budget to the Chief Executive Officer of the Appraisal Institute no later than January 31 of each year.

The chapter Finance Committee must periodically review the general financial condition of the chapter and submit reports concerning such condition to the Chapter Board of Directors. The Chapter Treasurer shall deliver in writing a copy of such report to the Executive Vice President of the Appraisal Institute within thirty (30) days of the report's presentation to the Chapter Board of Directors.

Part F: Education Committee(s)

The Chapter Education Committee(s) shall consist of a Chair and at least two (2) other members. Appointment of the Chapter Education Committee Chair(s) and members shall be subject to the approval of the Chapter Board of Directors.

The currently serving Chapter President shall appoint the Chair(s) of the Chapter Education Committee(s) in the first quarter of the year preceding the commencement of the Chapter Education Chair's(s) term. The Chapter Education Chair(s) shall serve either: (a) two (2) year term(s); or (b) one (1) year term(s) where the Chair(s) served as Vice Chair of the Chapter Education Committee during the previous year. The Chapter Education Chair(s) shall have an e-mail address and shall have web access. The Chapter Education Chair(s) or their representative must attend at least one Region Education meeting each year.

The Chapter President shall appoint the members of the Chapter Education Committee(s) whose terms commence at the same time as the President's term. The members of the Chapter Education Committee(s) shall be appointed to serve three (3) year staggered terms and shall not be eligible to serve consecutive terms.

The duties of the Education Committee(s) shall be to formulate and submit to the Chapter Board of Directors a general program for educational activities at the Chapter level for the year and to take all steps necessary to prepare and conduct Chapter educational programs. The Chapter must offer Appraisal Institute approved educational programs totaling at least ten (10) hours during each calendar year.

Part D: Government Relations Committee

The chapter Government Relations Committee shall consist of a Chair and a minimum of two 2 other members who shall be appointed by the Chapter President with the approval of the Chapter Board of Directors. The Chair shall be appointed to serve a one (1) year term. The other members shall be appointed to serve three (3) year staggered terms. The Chair and the other members shall be eligible to serve consecutive terms.

The duties of the Chapter Government Relations Committee shall be to promote the Appraisal Institute's policies and programs regarding legislation and regulations, which are of interest and importance to appraisers.

Part E: Membership Admissions, Development and Retention Committee

The Chapter Membership Admissions, Development and Retention Committee shall consist of a Chair and at least three (3) other members who shall be appointed by the Chapter President with the approval of the Chapter Board of Directors. At all times, the Chapter Membership Admissions, Development and Retention Committee shall include at least one member whose practice is primarily commercial in nature, one member whose practice is primarily residential in nature, and one Associate Member. The Committee may include one or more Affiliate Members.

The Chair shall be appointed to serve a one (1) year term and can serve no more than (2) two consecutive terms as Chair. The other members shall be appointed to serve three (3) year staggered terms and shall not be eligible to serve consecutive terms. Any member who serves on the Chapter Membership Admissions, Development and Retention Committee for five (5) consecutive years shall not be eligible for appointment to the Committee for two (2) years after completion of his or her final term. For purposes of calculating consecutive years, service on a Chapter Admissions Committee shall be counted.

The Chapter Membership Admissions, Development and Retention Committee shall develop, implement, and oversee the Chapter membership recruitment, development, and retention program. The Chapter Membership Admissions, Development and Retention Committee shall also identify members for service on the Experience Review Panel.

Part E: Associate Member Guidance Committee

The chapter Associate Member Guidance Committee shall consist of a Chair and a minimum of 2 other members who shall be appointed by the Chapter President with the approval of the Chapter Board of Directors. The Chair shall be appointed to serve a one (1) year term. The other members shall be appointed to serve three (3) year staggered terms. The Chair and other members of the Associate Member Guidance Committee are eligible to serve consecutive terms.

The duties of the Associate Member Guidance Committee shall be to advise and assist those Associate Members affiliated with the chapter in meeting the designation requirements of the Appraisal Institute.

Part G: Special Committees and Subcommittee

The Chapter President, with the approval of the Board of Directors, may create such Special Committees, as the President may deem appropriate.

The purpose of such committees may be, but is not limited to 1) helping the board of directors to provide appropriate programs to benefit the membership, 2) facilitating communication between the board of directors and the membership and between the members themselves, 3) recognizing the outstanding contributions of the individual members, 4) facilitating a stronger camaraderie between and among the membership and 5) providing additional services for the benefit of the membership.

Each committee of the Chapter may have one or more subcommittees that shall report to the President of the Chapter.

Special committees may include, but are not limited to the following:

- Awards Committee
- Bylaws Committee
- Golf Outing Committee
- Newsletter Committee
- Program Committee
- Public Relations Committee
- Leadership Development and Advisory Committee
- Institutional and Governmental Review Appraiser Committee
- Committee on Committees

Chapter Meetings and Quorums

Part A: Regular Membership Meetings

The Chapter shall hold a minimum of 4 regular membership meetings a year, unless the Chair of the Chapter's Region approves fewer membership meetings. The regular meetings shall be scheduled to permit timely discussion of matters to be considered by the national Board of Directors at its meetings. One (1) of these meetings shall be to elect Chapter officers and directors for the subsequent year. All regular membership meetings shall be open to all members of the chapter.

Part B: Special Membership Meetings

A special membership meeting shall be called by the Chapter Secretary upon receipt of a written request signed by the Chapter President, the Chapter Board of Directors, or at least ten percent (10%) of the chapter membership. Within seven (7) days after receipt of any such written request, the Chapter Secretary shall schedule a special membership meeting. Notice of such a meeting shall be delivered in writing to all chapter members. This written notice shall specify the date, time, place and purpose of the special meeting. The date selected for the special meeting shall be no fewer than ten (10) nor greater than twenty (20) days from the date of the transmission of the notice. All special membership meetings shall be open to all Members of the chapter.

Part C: Quorum

A quorum for any regular or special membership meeting shall be those chapter members present and voting at the meeting. The members may take action at a meeting at which a quorum is present upon a majority vote of the members present, unless a different percentage is prescribed by these Bylaws. A meeting at which a quorum is initially present may continue to transact business, notwithstanding the withdrawal of members, if any action taken is approved by a majority of the required quorum for that meeting.

Part D: Joint Meetings

Notice of joint meetings of chapters with other organizations shall be given to national headquarters no fewer than thirty (30) days prior to the date of the meeting to avoid conflicts with the national meeting schedule. Joint meetings shall be publicly announced after the proper notice to the national headquarters.

Part E: Robert's Rules of Order

All meetings are to be conducted according to Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised.

Chapter Publications

Part A: Chapter Directory

The chapter may publish a directory for distribution to chapter members and local users of appraisal services. The directory may include a list of members in one or more classifications of membership. Any list of chapter members that includes multiple classifications of membership shall distinguish among such classifications of membership. A copy of the chapter directory must be forwarded to the Chief Executive Officer of the Appraisal Institute.

Part B: Chapter Website

The Chapter website, www.ccai.org, shall be available to members, other interested parties and the public. Chapter activities will be posted on the website, as well as any other notices required and permitted by the National and Chapter bylaws.

Restrictions Upon the Powers of Chapters

Part A: General Limitation

All actions taken by a Chapter that are not required or authorized by the national Bylaws, Regulations, policies, resolutions, and directives of the Appraisal Institute shall be voidable by the national Board of Directors. A Chapter shall not act in a manner that is inconsistent with the national Bylaws, Regulations, policies, resolutions, and directives of the Appraisal Institute. A Chapter shall not speak or act in a manner that jeopardizes the not-for-profit status of the Appraisal Institute and its Chapters.

Part B: Adoption and Amendment of Chapter Bylaws

At its first meeting after being chartered, each chapter shall adopt its own chapter Bylaws. Such chapter Bylaws shall be consistent with the Articles of Incorporation, the national Bylaws and the Regulations of the Appraisal Institute. Within thirty (30) days of their adoption, the chapter Secretary shall deliver in writing to the Chief Executive Officer of the Appraisal Institute such chapter Bylaws.

Each chapter may, by a majority vote of those present and voting at a regular or special meeting called for this purpose, amend its Bylaws. However, notice of the proposed changes shall be delivered in writing to the chapter membership no fewer than fourteen (14) days prior to the meeting, and the amended Bylaws shall be consistent with the Articles of Incorporation, the national Bylaws and the Regulations of the Appraisal Institute. Within thirty (30) days after their amendment, the chapter Secretary shall deliver in writing to the Chief Executive Officer of the Appraisal Institute the amended chapter Bylaws.

Each chapter Bylaws, and any amendments thereto, shall be reviewed for consistency as described above. Any chapter Bylaw that is inconsistent with the Articles of Incorporation, the national Bylaws or any Regulation of the Appraisal Institute shall be void and of no force or effect. If the Appraisal Institute determines that the chapter Bylaws are inconsistent, the Appraisal Institute shall deliver in writing notice to the chapter that it has ninety (90) days to correct the inconsistency. If the chapter refuses to comply, the appropriate Regional Chair shall be notified and the chapter's regional representation shall be suspended. Continued failure to comply by the chapter shall be cause for the national Board of Directors to suspend or revoke the chapter's charter.

Part C: Restriction Upon Committing the Appraisal Institute

A chapter shall not commit the Appraisal Institute to any financial obligation, or to any other obligation whatsoever, unless such commitment is authorized in advance in writing by the national Board of Directors or the national Executive Committee acting between meetings of the national Board of Directors.

Part D: Acting in the Name of the Appraisal Institute

A chapter shall not speak for or act in the name of the Appraisal Institute without the prior written approval of the national Board of Directors or the national Executive Committee acting between meetings of the national Board of Directors.

Part E: Acting in the Name of the Chapter

When chapter officers act or speak for the chapter, the full name of the chapter shall be used to avoid interpretation of such statements or reports as official statements or reports of the Appraisal Institute.

Part F: Use of Chapter Funds

All funds of a chapter shall be used to carry out the purposes of the chapter. No chapter funds shall be diverted from such purposes for the personal benefit of any member or other individual. **Chapters are encouraged to maintain sufficient funds in reserve to cover six (6) months, but no more than one (1) year of chapter operating expenses.**

Part G: Chapter Education Trust Funds

In order to establish a chapter education trust fund, the chapter must first receive the written approval of the national Executive Committee after consideration by the national Finance Committee.

In reviewing the request of a chapter for permission to establish an education trust fund, the national Executive Committee and the national Finance Committee shall consider: (1) the adequacy of the chapter's operating funds; (2) the proposed rules and regulations of the chapter for establishing and administering the fund; (3) the impact on the Appraisal Institute Education Trust; and (4) such other matters as may be appropriate.

This provision does not prohibit a chapter from segregating on its books a portion of the chapter treasury for educational purposes.